.
o

o
%;%N-@;:




RAMNGBE
EXCAVAET IOMZ.

ware comduoted

e rorth of

Vg

EERIE A <

+
¥

ES

[P )

v

,,,,, \ ‘
, and Torming vy Frombane of the High  SBbreet.
b owas carrisd oub stbicon  with  architechs  Furoell,
and  Trittom, and with the contractors E.5. Ambross and San,
refurbishment oFf the buildings For bthe Deasn and Chapber of  Ely
: Cwas partially  funded by a grant  from o the Historio

P

o

Mogsament e Dommisslor.

e 2
i

e oof a proup of
@ extremity, and
1y Museun, and the O

porth  Ranpe consid
Towers @b bhelr wes
e 01g Ohedy Bohooly

{1
3

=
=]
t
i o
g O =

DRGANISATION OF WORK

(s
*

oo et LT

BEEREschax

e

=

Pt







B I R S S e b e et e i b, Lt

ELY NORTH RANGE

SUMMARY OF EXCAVATIONS

~_The Medieval Period

4 number of layers and features in ENRZ (stage 1) and  ENRS
{stage 1) appear similar in their compositions and heights 0.D..

It is suggested that the earliest levels reached r@preaant AT
11th - 1%th century ground surface seen in contex t 169 in  ENR2Z and
contexts %9, 133, 135, 137, and 139 in ENRS. These were cut by “a
foundatian trench (context 1&1 in ENRZ) for a substantial sandy mortar
wall which ran west — east and was found in ENRZ {contexts 120, 160,
and  147)  and in ENRS {context 124). The excavation in ENRZ did not
evtend Far enouah south to find this wall. The top of the wall as it
survived in both areas lay at between 20,350 and 20.560 m 0.0.. According
to the site grid, the alignment and positien of this wall was the same
in bhoth  areas. Contemporary  with  this wall in ENRE waz a stone
structure resembling a shaft (context 1546) and areas of burning betwesen
it and the wall which pruhabiy resulted from indusitrial activity. I
ENRE a mortar floor (cont 129) sealed the sarlier lavers, and was in
turn overlain by a dEﬂDmlt that extended over wall 124 after it had
heen dismantled to its present level during the 1Zth or 14th century.

. The Sacrist Rolls of Ely (ed. F.R. Chapman, 19070 pruv1d@
evidence for ¢0n51derable building activity in the monastic precznatg
in  the le%t half af the l4th century, especzaliy during the period
when - Alan Nalsxnaham was Sacrist.  There are accounts rEldtan to

demalition and rebuilding in the North Range, and this would seem to
‘faarreapmnd wlth tha ex cavated ev1dance.**ﬂw, e NS o

: Cmbbled and cmmpacteﬁ surfaces in both ENR2 (stage 3,

contexts 116 and 13 52) and ENRS (stage 2, contexts 9% and BBE) date to
the same parlod and are preaumﬁbly the next phaqe in the use. cff’ ‘
site. In ENRZ the cobbled surface was contained by a north ~;sgu+h wall
{context 107) which appears to have been one structure with the w
east wall (contex t*iﬂl} bu11t Qver;the remnant~a¥ the earlie

»kwall icontezt 1

Q The qutfﬁedieval Periqd

In the Pcmt Medleval perloﬁ it appparg that ENR2 {stage
and ENRE (stage 2) were ane rcom‘% and the various mortar flaa%ag
‘a%qorlated drains were all very similar in appearance, in their 1
0.0., and in the dating evidence thay provided. The make-up dep
beneath : : ‘smimilarity in composition
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depth. In ENRZ the plinth belonged to this phase and it would seem that
all these features related to somne industrial process on the site.

In  ENRS (stages % and 4) the construction of a north -~ south
wall and a small structwe to its west may correspond with this period.
The +inds associated with thesse stages belong to the 17th century and
earlier.

In ENFR4 a sondage 0.8 m in depth showed only a continuous
disturbance. The Racon manuscript {(c.l1870) mentions the construction in
Elizabethan +times of a passage between the High Btreet and the Lady
Chapel, and the 1851 plan of Ely by Bidwell shows a passage Funning
north - south  through the North Range apparently in the position of
ENF4, Thus in this period probably there were two discrete bulldings on
this site.

The Victorian Feriod

In  all areas the final phase on the site was represented by
srtensive dumping and levelling. Much Medisval window glass was found
in these dumps., together with lead. animal bone,  and  rubble  which
included pieces of dressed stone assigned to the Medieval period. From
this evidence it could be sugoested that a certain amount of Medieval
fabric had swurvived in  the buildings that were demolished by the
Victorians, when they made extensive alterations alt the Morth  Rangs

o. V870,

29th January 1988

fAnne Holton-Eravenbuhl

Tim Malim
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My NORTH RANGE: OLD CHOIR SCHOOL KITCHEN i Preliminary report <

Excavation in the old Choir School kitchen revealed six main
stages of activity. The relationship between features in stéges
1 and 2 could not be fully established and the earliest levels
were not reached. |

Stage 1
In the south half of the room, a foundatlon trench (161) had been

dug into a thick deposit of brown loamy soil with charcoal flecks (169)

Wall footings of rubble and mortar were poured into this trench

which was 0.25m deep where excavated. The wall footings (120 and

162) ran west - east and were at least 1.4 m wide. A 1.4 m stretch
_was defined. There was a buttress-like protrusion (160), 0.65 m long

and 0.4 m wide that ran northwards from the wall.

In the north part °f1§%3 room, a 0.9 m high shaft of stone and
mortar had been bullgk The west wall of the shaft was made up of
irregular pieces of stone and mortar, while the east wall was
built of dressed stone blocks. The distance between west and east
walls was 0.7m, and the approximate depth of the structure was
0.95 m.-It was not possible to establish how the shaft related to
the north wall of the existing building. The dressed stone at
ground level on either side of the shaft opening was indented on
its outer edge, as if to provide space for a small board or the
like,to block the entrance. There were no traces of smoke—blackenlng
or charring on. those parts of the shaft that were examined, or on
its base at ground level.

South of the shafzgwere a series of deposits of ash and clay. OneA
of these GGPOSLt%\ ormed part of a square with rounded corners,
charred black and red (sides at least O. 6 m), enclosing a smaller
'clay square (SLdes : 0.25m). The smaller square was aligned with
the openlng at -the foot of shaft 156... |
There was no time to fully establish the relationship between
these deposits, and between the dep031ts and 156, but it seems
llkely that they were contemporary and that feature 165 represents
~ a structure that has now disappeared.
* Summary of stage 1. The earliest stage is represented by wall footings
of cons1derable thlckness running across the south part of the
room, The stone-llned shaft with associated patches on the ground

n"’éi% | ' w 7. '“' .



@%in the north half of the room probably represent some form of

k.

industrial activity. No dating evidence was recovered.

Stage 2
In the south part of the room, the congectured wall overlying

footings 120, 160 and 162 was dismantled, leaving an irregular
- scatter of stone and mortar along its north edge.

‘Shortly after, a shallow pit (119), 1l6écm deep and 22cm in diameter,
was cut into 120. It had a homogenous fill of crumbly brown soil
with fragments of chalk, bone and chipped tile; but there was no
evidence as to its function.

A pit or trench had been cut into the north edge of wall footings
120 and into the dark brown occupation soil with charcoal (169)
lying to the north of footings 120. Its west edge sloped steeply,
its east edge was vertical, and it was at least 30cm deep, but
there was no time to establish the extent of this feature. The
feature was infilled with brown compacted soil containing much chalk
and clay and some animal bone, and the same compacted material (166)
sealed both the pit feature and the dark brown occupation levels

to the west and east of it. Two small sherds of glazed C13/14
‘pottery were found in context 166. Over this, a dark brown clayey
layer of soil accumulated (151), containing three sherds of Cl2

to C13/14 pottery and a metal object. ‘

R
o
PEg
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__In‘the north part of the room, dark brown loamy soil accumulated (164)
over contexts 165 and 167. It containedfflecks of charcoal and
two very small sherds of C13/14 pottery, two metal objects, a piece -~
of burnt bone and a few small pieces of mussel shell. 164 may have
been a contlnuatlon of 151.

(, '~; , ‘ _,‘ ETT—
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Summary of stage 2. The wal\l running across the south part
of the room was dismantled and the resulting trample from:this
activity created compacted layer 166. The structure represented
by 156 and 165 went out of use and soil accumulated naturally
(164 and 15\) some time in the C13/14. ;

Stage 3 ‘ - , o ‘(111)
In the -south half of the room med ium brown soilawas deposited over

LB




Stage 4 P S Lan&cumﬁﬁb

alie — 2

11 footings 120. It contained an abraded sherd of medieval pottery
and a small sheet of lead that had been folded. The base of a

stone and mortar wall (101) was then dug into this deposit.

Wall 101 was on the same alignment as 120,‘but was only 0.4 m wide.
It stood to a height of 20 cm, and a 2.6 m stretch was defined.

The wall then turned at right angles northward. Where the south -
north wall ran over the buttress-like footings (160) its base had
been cut into the footings and was 0.4m wide (159). ‘This wall
continued into the north part of the room (107) and was built onto
the east side of structure 156. Wall 107 was 0.3 - 0.4 m wide.

To the west of wall 107 was a cobbled surface ( 116 and 152). It

- overlay 151 and sloped from south to north. At the north'end;the

soil between the cobbles had been reddened as a result of activity
at a later stage. The ground surface east of wall 107 may have
consisted of the upper deposits which constitugd 1ayer 164 (see
stage 1). :

A sherd of C13/14 cooking pot was recovered from the structure of

- wall 107, and on the surface of the cobbling, two fragments of

green-glazed tile and one sherd of pottery were found, all of Cl14 .
date. | | ‘

. Summary of stage’S. A'new-stage«of activity is represented by thew~

narrow wall running west - east, then south - north, and'overlying

the ‘deposits assoclated with periods 1 and 2. The position of :

wall 107, separatlng a cobbled area from an area of natural

“deposits suggests a change in spatial organisation. The shaft structur
at the north end of the room may still have been in use. The g N
llmlted datlng evidence suggests that this stage dates to the Cl4.

© A ‘polygonal plinth of sonewese, brick and stone ‘was bullt in the_
‘north - west quarter of the room (23).-It cut into cobbling 152. .
The north and east edges could not be excavated, but the angles
between the sides suggest that the plinth was hexagonal. The two
sides that could be excavated completely were 1.2 m long. At the

| bottom of the plinth core of dark brownlsh-grey silty clay (155)

was a fragment of rim of C13/1% pottery. The vertical edges of the
plinth were facgabgn concrete to a depth of about 20 cm. The upper

surface. of hard sandy material was a rusty red colour (22) and
_there were c1rcular patches (dlameter : 20 - 40 cm) of ‘darker red

(103) and paler orange-pink (28), Finds on the surface of the pllnth




included part of a salt-glazed stoneware jug dating to C1l6/17
and of probable Rhenish origin, two very small fagments of window |
glass and two metal objects.

Wall 107 was dismantled to the same level as the lower part of

the plinth facing, and a low stone wall (109) was built between 107
"and the plinth, blocking the south side of structure 156. There was
-a nomogenous f£ill of brown sandy soil (115) to the north of wall
'109. Rust red crumbly soil lay to the south of this wall (108) and
an abraded sherd of'013/14 pottery was found in this rust red layer,
together with a fragment of bone. A ~

.On the east face of the plinth was a red stain that extended over
108 and wall 107. It had also stained cobbling 152 described—in stage 2.

The cobbling (152) into which the plinth had been cut was deposited
to the south of the plinth (114) and levelled. Over the resulting
horizontal surface, a mortar floor (24) was laid, between the
plinth and wall 101 which was still standing then. The floor was

up to.2.em thick, but it also had worn patches (33,34,37,38,111).
It sloped from west to east, being as much as 10 cm higher at its
west end than at its east end where it drained into a stone- and

- brick-lined drain (32,112,118,154). | |

The drain lay immediately to the east of walls 101 (east s1de) and

159, and was cemented on these walls in places. The brick and stone
' sides of the drain rested on tiles, some of which were roof tilesﬁghb
The channel of the drain was about 15 cm wide and sloped from north

to south. The drain was at least two metres long. It had been filled -
with homogenous sandy brown soil similar to 115. Overlylng the draln
~edges of brick and dressed llmestone blocks adhering to each other = _
with much cement were three flattish stones (118) one of ‘which had ﬁf 
decorative carving on it. The- stones served as a base for a cobbled
surface (112). North of these features,..the drain was covered by

two square slabs of stone (32). The. smaller stone was 33 by 30 by

9 em. ~ -. The larger stone was 43 by 40 by 7.5 cm and had four
perforatlons near .its centre (diameter of perforatlons' about 2cm).

~ North of 32 was a small area of" cobbling that contlnued into the
section. : : )

——

- Floor 24. sloped down towards the- two stone slabs, and the perforatlons‘
in the larger stone would have enabled water to draln 1nto draln 154.‘
This would suggest that the south - north wall represented by ‘footings
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9 and the east part of wall IQ& had been dismantled, and the observat
that the drain was cemented ontoAthengwalls (see above) supports
this. Brown soil accumulated to the south of the remaining stretch

of wall 101 which ran west - east.

West of the base of wall 107, small heaps of rubble were dumped,
and the whole area was then levelled with a layer of brown soil
containing pebbles and charcoal flecks to a depth of 20 cm. Sandy
goil was then spread over part of the surface and this acted as
underlay for a mortar floor (110). |

A few fragments of bone were found associated with the various '

“floor surfaces, and one small sherd of Cl7 pottery was found in the
. cobbling at the north end of the drain cover 32.-

Summary of stage 4, The plinth which must initially have had a
superstructure, together with the rust stains associated with it
suggest some form of industrial activity. There were mortar floors
to south (24) and east (110) of the plinth, the latter continuing
eastward into the section. Wall 101 remained the south wall of the
building and there was an opening at the south end of the east
wall where the threshold is represented by 32 and 112. The purpose
of the drain to collect water from the mortar floor inside the
building is not clear but maxwpe related to the activity carrled
out around the pllnth whlch Arequired efficient arrangements ‘for
floor-cleanlng. The two sherds recovered suggest a post—medleval

date around C1l7.

Stage 5 ' , : : o v"‘v~‘\
The area between the pllnth and wall 107 was 1nfllled w1th medlum o
brown grltty soil (104 and 105) containing three fragments of bone,

a piece of lead, a nail,and a fragment of palnted wall plaster

with the outline of a design palnted black and the outer~zone burgundy

.-

A brlck—edged structure of mortar and rubble (26) was bullt over
infilling 104 and 105. It was cemented onto the plinth. Floor 24
was ‘still in use although covered by a thin layer of brown d99031t
in which a lace bobbln, a sharpened pig's tooth and some oyster

shell were found. ‘ - s

The thlck dep051t of medieval glaSS (170)found -among the successive
fills of structure 156 may -belong to this stage. It was up to 20 cm

deep.
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“ Bummary of stage 5.The purpose of feature 26 is’not clear and it
is not certain whether the plinth was still in use.

Stage 6 S
Two pits were dug into 26 (27 and 29). Pit 27 overlay structure
156 and a succession of shallow deposits filled the pit.

The superstructure of the plinth was probably dismantled in this
stage, as was wall 101 which was taken down to the same level as
mortar floor 24.

The whole area was then covered with - 0.6 - 0.8 m deep deposits of

- soil, broken tile, and rubble containing a quantity of animal
bone, a fragment of medieval floor tile, three sherds of (17 pottéry,
and 32 fragments of glass, many of which were decorated and of
Cl4 date.

Summary of stage 6. This represents the final stage of the site

prior to the Victorian rebuilding. Medieval finds in the rubble
suggest that a considerable part of the medieval fabric had survived
until then. The line of the west = east wall that had formed the
south side of the building since the Middle Ages ‘was abandoned‘b>5¢N$
Ey a new south wall -+ further south.
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LY NORTH RANGE

INTRODUCTION
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The d@pﬁrzts show considerable ﬁﬁttvity i the  Post
Carnd  thern apain during the Vicotorlar ; building phase
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The Medieval FPericd
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the eastary %zdﬁ =f the excavaticorn.  Although we gdid mot taks it oub
ﬁruﬁ mection Bvidence and gerneral levels that this feature
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ELY NORTH RANGE ARER 5

INTRODUCTION

. The exmavatzaﬂs i Ely Museun revealed three main pericds of
1v1ty Gﬂ the site. Firstly a Medieval ong throupgh the 12th  ~ 14th

UPLQ” with wall arcd Floor comstruction phases, and various layers
cooupaticos acoun ulatiaﬁ, Smcomdly ﬂmafmﬂadzele activity involved
ponstruction of walls  and & emall structure of uncertain Funetion,
 comsiderable d?ﬂtnrhamaa of sarlier layers in placss. Thirdly wE Y
nimg and preparation  of the area For +the construction of  the
noding buildivgs caused distuwrbance guring the Victorian sra.

The Medieval Fericd
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ry thin spread of saridy moriar f@ﬁﬂtaxt 129 presumably the remnant
o ~\'" ow . - 3
a Floor.

dkly Shamford ware, gt :}} memurely Medigeval. Above layver 130 is

Fired stage summary.
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startial mortar wall rurming west — mast and a secuerce of layers of
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cempiated with the wall mentioned above. ‘
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e excavation and extended o tive soubth over the previous oramat oo
’gygks ard  over wall 12 This laver was compacted by usage and ise
scoiated  with a cabh?&d surface in the morth west (contexts S8R and ;
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The pottery securely dates these activities to the 13th - ’
caﬂturia», and  the diversity of types show  cormbacts with

ghbowring counties

Fost Medieval activity
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Atagam By mouyivig & 1ime mortar
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Flivmbas 30 om iwm
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421l o its east arnd had ul thwotah .Q ﬁa%, arid

=9, O However  the  third stage wall at  this
uttress  had been made an exira sad owver the

rompacted layer BEE,
Sitbivg  ov bop of owal
(oortext B2, T4 nad besrn
Clayers 97 and B8O by

The regular stoore hloohs
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Third stage summary.

. and  comstructicon of & morth - soubh wall  omutbing
Yo,
bt

twm. The clunch and lirme morbar wall 134 is  probkably
o Fear bhe stome and ceBment construotion of wall BIZ,

that they represent bwo different pericods. Datirg i
mard cement iv owall B2 suppest it iz late.
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0 steacture (context 141) was mu*%Ed up apainst walls 134782

hig irvelved comsiderable removal of existinp deposits =o chat o all

Medisval lavers west of these walls  and above  layer IEE/1EE

iisappeared betwesn the west - eas st wall 184 and some residual layers
the norith Fnd o the sxoavat o Thus structure 141, a small room
DS SOUAre, was huilt directly unto the truncated Msdieval layers
ard 13T, At the marth emd  the hard gravelly deposit of 13E

arnd  so were bhe overlying layers of thlh i lty  olay {1400,
'bhling 2=y, and the Floor deposmits of 97 arnd 96

V Structure 341 was  built of am L~ ﬁbap@d
itk bits

[

-
ces,

CEE T e
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rough appearance of the exterior walls
el evern nalls probrading Frxm the cement

@ot 112 Finmde iﬂ 2 A
aEirly Eﬁﬁﬂlﬁﬁﬁ wkelebon of & orow sized
had bzern oub Uy Lwe  small fondu P
vy that oan b ﬁatﬁﬁ 7
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Fourth stage summary

Cometructicon of 1ittle room 141 For unbkrnown purposs. Removal
auch Medisval matsrizal,

M s Y - N
igval mobhaEry.

S T ST

i
I
P

at warious angles
ocould be trampls

ructiorn of bthe struocture. IF it had heern Faced with stonswork on
cubmide, Elin would  have bhesn removed Defore  the  dumping ano
af the later deposits arcund it Abhove layer 1i lime & lavaer

= 13
; sanmdy ®ilt, mid brown in colour, with peagrit, mortar churks,
roaal flecking, tile fFragments, and same flimts in it A comtext 94).
contains 13th - 14th cerntury cooking pot sherds, Blackesrmed by uss,
apped about mammal bornes,  and oyster shell. The layer iz 10 moms thick
o haﬁfbasw CUMPEQ%E@,A and it oocovers the Medieval . egast - westVéwall
Abave  layer 94 a grey b clmy@y sarnd layer 20 cms  thick has
umped. It cortains charcoal and lime flechking, and throughout the
Bits of tile and glass lying &t all argles carn be Fourd in it
oty pottery sherd is late 15th cerntury arngd some thirn  lead  sirip
¥ be window glass setbing. The hones show no evidemce of bubtchery and
' fyom larpe mammala. Pt the baze of the laver & ﬁtwip af mortayr 20
wide loontext . 92) rurns westwards from the south =37 Curner‘ of
t:ture 141 arnd prob“bly represents the base of a t@mgmwary wali. 5@%\
agaimnst the wgrﬁ and scuth faces of structwe 1417 glass, nails, bi te
tilp armd stone, amd bore were Found, and at the top of this layer ES
all ares was laid with clunch blocks up ag?sw + the soubth face of the
Fooumed hwo pisces of 14th - 104hH mmntnrv

, ure, amormgst which were £ 5
rdow tracery laid upside down. Layer B7 was very simi
contained mmrrgdedﬂzraﬂcwhzch may have beern a krifs  blade, bmﬂh,
shell, glass, and 13th - 14th century pottery including a jug
arnd & sherd of Grimston ware. This layer may have been the result

Erampling and is & compacted dencsit fFound omly in the rorth western

T e o, S .
tar inm substano

(R RO AN

of  the excavaliow, covering laver B8 and the Medieval mortar
B ‘

H

The inmtericor of strustwes 141 was Filled by a derk grey sandg




Fifth stage summary

abruchurs & le b partial  demolition  and
woosition Momopenenus cutside 4. These werse pachked

art of wall 134788,
v Medisval their
shee
R

canrs about iy and up agalr et @ast R
2though e potbtery i these e was sxol ively Med

watigraphic relaticornships to structure 1461 sugpes they postdate it

d wall 134782, The way Finds did met lie horizontally within  the

shores lass, and bone being Found at all anpgles,)

¥ Diemesumably

Erven pepesiy b o f

Victoriarn Tampesring

- The pernultimate stage was the robbing uf the centre part of
all &g, ared the easterrn end of wall 83 where it butted against  wall
' This activity or robbing Erench {(context 145 can be seern to have
Clayer 94 (and those abave it) and poseibly cut inte the Mediewval
; B8R, The limestorne blocks from wall B2 were removed as  were
Fomes and poessibly brioks from wall 82 A deposit of mortar and sand
as  left as a residual rubble fol lowimng the limeg of the wall {oontext
2 pomtained by ths layers that had build up against the walls, O the
sstery side the rubble spiiled out over layer 88/ and mortar Flooy 90
Firally a rubbly laver of sand, garth and mortar was SprLad
existing deposits (contexts 81, 835 a=s a ProCE S S oy cr@atlng a
; area -to comstruct the flooe of the Victorian bulldlrg Mo a8
iy Museunm. 4ﬂwi¢k, S ' anmd mussel shells, bone, avd 3
herd of 17%h o~ 18tk ceni: ot b wers included inm these d@pmgitg;
L
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} aver of rubble For levelling in cormmection
" =1

with the construction of the 1887 Victorian
Buildings.

5

1 8BS 1 Laver of loose ash arnd soot and ruhhl@ el
1

cormmected with Vicbtorian lsvelling asctivi ty.

n
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h2d
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Laver of loose mortar rubble from robbing of
wall (_B2_ ). '

e, foon B o} kS s T - -,
Fepabwres robiing trench for partial removal of

wall ﬁ @ﬁm}.

yubble and ash in strucituwre
arcurd a fallew pilecs of

: and rubble, similayr to thab
used i bhe construction of the wall (831,

that has sunk into the lowsr levels of ash,

stratified as (1E87).

Tt Layer of dumped earth on cutside of siructure

(141).

188 1 Laver of dumped earth o cutside of +rLEtuw@

1141), berneath {87). With 5F1 ~— late medieval
wirmdom tracery laid on the top of this

deposit, and the mortar foundaticns of a
poesible wall (38) includsd within it

_Ea L.ayer of dumped garth oo umtsxde af stwumtura
(1413, beneath (8&).

ot

Featwre: wall of Qtuma ahd Cumcw@wk‘
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o f morh &
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Layvers of ash all givern one context  rmumbes, o
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deposited when struchure (1410 was in uze as a

ez For urriivig.

Comstruction of structure (1410,

Features: cemenmt amd rubble walls of struct
{341r; & walls rumsing nooedh and east From
their mubuasl corner, the east ruﬂmiﬂg wall
butting up  against  wall {1342 the wnorih
vunming wall cutting indbo Iayewq; (98),  {(37),
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i, =
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mortar.
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of lavers {93y, {1133y, {135, LLETY el
*2%% wn &bove LQW) ardd the harder deposit
1E36). fAlec appEars to cud layer {88}, '
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Layer of  rub bl@ in  mangdy-silt mat r;x
"

conbaining morter chunks, stones, bits of
wocdd and gharcoal Flecks.
Levelling ooy shtruct iom o f 1859

Buildinmos.

Layer Filling ditch (203). Composed of
z osand, morbtar chunks, and stoness

ditel cut For Foundatiorn bresnch
'tfmﬁ w1l o F 1RES

Layer of ash with patches of Duent @ad,
and mush ohareooal discolouration.
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arcd Fills the lower part of ditch EOE) .
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ory of the buildings which now form
rth Range of the precinct of Ely
al has been little studied. The
ion of the former Choir School,
with the archaeological excavations
ed in advance of the building work,
revealed new information. It is now
to integrate the physical and
mentary evidence and to suggest a
ble sequence of developments on the

"he North Range (TL541803) is situated on
south side of the High Street, Ely, and
nstitutes part of the northern boundary of
. cathedral precincts (Figure 1la). In
ovember and December 1987 excavations
ere carried out on the site. At the same time,
yoth the internal and external standing fabric
was recorded by means of a detailed
architectural investigation and photographic
urvey.

The findings suggest that the North Range
originated in the fourteenth century and
remained virtually unchanged until the 1860s
when the central portion of the range was
dismantled and rebuilt. The excavations also
yielded evidence for an earlier, possibly

21.Y CATHEDRAL PRECINCTS: THE NORTH RANGE

JE HOLTON-KRAYENBUHL, THOMAS COCKE & TIM MALIM

thirteenth-century, north boundary to the
monastic precinct.

THE EXCAVATIONS

Trial trenches were dug along the length of the

“range and earlier features were found to have

survived. Further excavation took place
inside the Museum (ENRS: Figure 1b) and
Choir House (ENR2 and ENR3: Figure 1b).

The post-medieval features were more
complex than expected. Lack of time together
with safety considerations precluded full
investigation of the earlier medieval features
and their interrelationship, and the medieval
occupation deposits were not bottomed. Six
phases were defined.

Phase 1

Evidence for this phase was found in ENRS
and ENR2.

ENRS
In the east part of the trench, there was an accumulation
of grey and mottled brown clayey silt layers containing

metres

7 #
s
///." s 0

Figure la.

Ely North Range location plan
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burnt patches and charcoal flecks (Figures 5a and 5b).
There were patches of sand and small lumps of mortar in
two of these layers; the total depth was about 0.8 m. In
the centre of the trench only the lower deposits existed,
the remainder having been removed by the later
building of structure 141 (Figure 3).

Finds included fourteen sherds of Thetford and St
Neots ware of tenth- to thirteenth-century date, small
lumps of poorly fired clay which may be daub, fragments
of animal bone of a size suitable for stewing, and a piece
of copper of matchstick dimensions.

These layers had been cut by a linear feature running
west—east whose north edge lay beyond the excavated
area. A 2.4 m stretch was defined. It was more than
1.5 m wide and about 0.75 m deep.

Figure 1b. Ely North Range site plan

o

This feature, possibly a ditch, had been filled with
hard-packed sandy silt containing rounded gravels and a
few sherds of eleventh- to thirteenth-century pottery,
one of which had a rouletted decoration (Figure 6a). A
thin layer of grey silty clay with gravels and charcoal
flecks formed a hard surface over the top of the infilled
ditch (Figure 2b). On the east side of the trench, it had a
curved edge and there was a stake-hole. This surface lay
at 20.33 to 20.40 m O.D. along the east section and at
20.35 m O.D. where it survived on the north edge of
structure 141. It yielded two nails and a bone pin.

ENR2
Evidence for this phase was found in a small area within
the south-east part of the trench. It consisted of brown
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écks ofcharcoal, and was more
25 no dating evidence and this
te) phase 1 because of its

the ground sloped from south

h of the deposits and the
of fragments of pottery,
harcoal flecking suggest
pation. The duration of
ively long and the pottery
jat it occurred between the
rteenth century.

ature or ditch that was
RS5 ran parallel with the north
ing building and may have
In view of the

or a west—east wall existed in
R2 (Figures 2a and 2b). The
ween these foundations and
s in ENRS5, ENR2 and ENR3

wall foundations was defined (feature
than 0.5 m deep in the limited area
more than 0.5 m wide. The south edge
mits of the excavation. The wall
sisted of limestone rubble and sandy
ielded one piece of beige wall plaster. The
rubble foundations lay at 20.50 m
st of the later wall 82, and at 20.60 m

butted on the north side of the wall
gure 2b). Another possible post-hole
ces of limestone lay at about two
h of it. A 20-30 mm thick surface of
ved in the north-east corner of the
tface lay at ¢. 20.35 m O.D.

of the trench, a two-metre stretch of
vas located (Fxgure 2a: feature 120).

ere more than 1.2 m wide: the south
he limit of the excavation. The top of

ndations lay at 20.50 m O.D.

for a 0.7 m long feature which may
s had been bonded on to the north
ndations. The foundations for the
re of rubble and mortar poured into
ch. A fragment of beige wall plaster
the rubble and mortar,

veral deposits on the surface to the
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north of the wall foundations but their interrelationship
was not established.

ENR3

A dark greyish tan silty surface was located in part of the
trench. It contained mortar, charcoal pieces, rounded
gravels and some flints.

Summary
It is suggested that the foundations located in
ENRS5 and ENR2 were part of the same
feature: they were of similar composition and
their north edges were on the same alignment,
lying at 4 m from the north wall of the existing
building. They survived to 20.50 m O.D. In
view of their dimensions, these foundations had
probably formed the base of a substantial wall.
The post-holes excavated in ENR5 may
represent the base of a scaffold, and the
mortar surface in the north-east corner may
have been part of a floor.

Phase 3

The conjectured wall represented by the
rubble and mortar foundations in ENRS and
ENR?2 was dismantled to 20.50-20.60 m O.D.

ENRS

The post-holes were infilled and the ground surface
covered with compacted brown silty sand deposits
containing mortar which also overlay wall foundations
124 (Figures 5a and 5b).

The total depth of these deposits was 0.1-0.2 m. Their
upper surface was almost horizontal and, in the north-
west part of the trench, was topped with flint cobbling.

Later activity had removed the evidence for this phase
in the centre and most of the west part of the trench.

ENR2

A bowl-shaped pit had been cut into the foundations of
the dismantled south wall (Figure 2a). A shallow trench
had cut away part of the north edge of the foundations
and the adjacent occupation levels. This trench had been
infilled with compacted soil containing much chalk and
clay, and the same compacted material sealed the
surface immediately to the north of the wall
foundations.

An almost square feature with a charred black and red
outer zone may belong to this phase (feature 165). It
possibly represents the traces of a standing structure,
such as a brazier, whose outer zone had burnt the
underlying soil. There were other patches of burnt soilin
the north half of the trench which may also be attributed
to this phase (Figure 4a).

Summary

The wall had been dismantled to similar levels
in ENRS5 and ENR?2 and it it suggested that
this represents ground level of the time when
this occurred.
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Phase 4

There was evidence for two new buildings,
one in ENRS which extended into ENRG6, the
other in ENR2. The features in ENR3 were a
continuation of those observed in ENR2.

ENRS

The level surface created in phase 3 was covered by silty
sand deposits to a depth of 0.1-0.3 m (Figure 5a). These
deposits were compacted and contained pieces of
mortar, limestone and flint, and there were patches of
ash. An amount of animal bone was found, some of it
had traces of butchery and there was also bird bone and
sherds of thirteenth- and fourteenth-century pottery,
many of which were glazed. These included sherds of
Lyveden ware, several fragments from a baluster jug as
well as sherds from pitchers and cooking pots.

A sandy mortar floor, 2060 mm thick, survived in
fragmentary form over the resulting level described
above and continued into the east section and into the
east part of the south section. Its surface lay atc. 20.80 m
O.D. Two fragments of thirteenth- or fourteenth-
century window glass were found in the mortar floor.

Evidence for this phase in the centre and most of the
west part of the trench had been removed by later
disturbance.

ENR6
Traces of a mortar floor at the same level as that in
ENRS5 were observed in the west part of the trial trench.

ENR2

Brown soil containing chalk pebbles had been deposited
over the foundations of the dismantled wall, infilling the
shallow pit. The base of a stone wall on the same
alignment as the earlier one was embedded in this
dumped soil (Figure 2a). A 2.7 m stretch of wall was
defined. It was 0.4 m wide and survived to a height of
0.2 m.

Near the east edge of the excavated area, the wall turned
at right angles northward, following the line of the earlier
buttress foundations on to which it had been bonded. It
continued north and was built on to the east side of
feature 156. This part of the wall was 0.3-0.4 m wide.

Feature 156 which abutted the north wall of the
present building possibly belonged to this phase,
although it may have been erected earlier and been
incorporated into the structure of this phase. It
resembled a shaft, being 0.7 m by 1 m in plan, and
survived to a height of about 0.8 m. Its east wall was of
dressed stone. The west wall was mainly of rubble and
mortar, and there was a dressed stone lying
perpendicular to its south edge which partially blocked
the entrance to the shaft, leaving a 0.3 m wide opening.
There was a vertical notch on the south-east corner of
this stone and there was a corresponding one on the
stone that lay to the east of the opening. Where
excavated, the base of feature 156 was of stone and lay at
about 20.40 m O.D.

West of the north—south wall was a cobbled surface
that sloped from south down to north. It existed in the
north half of the area enclosed within the new walls.

A few fragments of fourteenth-century pottery and
glazed tile were found on the surface of the cobbling and
in the east wall of the new structure. The tile fragment
illustrated in Figure 6b was very similar to one of those
excavated at Denny Abbey.!

East of this wall, brown silty soil accumulated (Figure
4a).

ENR3

There was an accumulation of silty soil which was
probably part of the same deposit as that to the east of
the wall in ENR2 (Figure 4b). The silty deposits in
ENR?2 and ENR3 contained charcoal flecks and a few
sherds of thirteenth- to fourteenth-century pottery.

Summary

In ENRS, evidence for a new building was
provided by the mortar floor and the dumped
deposits that underlay it. In ENR2, the stone
footings probably represented the base of a
building whose south wall was on the same
alignment as that of the adjacent Goldsmith’s
Tower. There appeared to be no entrance in
the excavated south and east walls. Feature
156 may have been a wall cupboard, the
notches at its south opening being the remains
of slots for a door.

The pottery and tile associated with the two
probable buildings was of similar quality and
date. The date of the sherds suggests that
these had been discarded in the fourteenth
century or later but it was not possible to
determine whether the building activity in
ENRS was exactly contemporary with that
observed in ENR2.

The accumulation of silty soil on the east
edge of ENR2 and in ENR3 may have formed
part of a dirt floor. Alternatively, it may have
constituted an external ground surface.

Phase 5

The buildings in ENRS and ENR2 underwent
considerable alterations. The features
observed in ENR2 extended into ENR3.
Evidence for this phase was also found in
ENRI1.

ENRS
Foundations for a north-south wall had cut through the
mortar floor (Figure 3: foundations 134 for wall 82). A

1 P.M. Christie and J.G. Coad, Excavations at
Denny Abbey, Archaeological Journal CXXXVIL
(1980), pp. 138-279.
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straight-sided trench, 0.45 m wide, had been dug, and
rubble and mortar had been poured into it, in three
stages. The two lowest stages, of clunch and lime
mortar, were ¢. 0.75 m high and existed in the central
part of the trench, extending south as far as wall
foundations 124 of phase 2. The uppermost stage, of a
soil and lime mortar mix with clunch, was ¢. 0.3 m high
and ran across the entire excavated area. At its north
end, it butted and went over the hard gravelly surface
that overlay the ditch filling described in phase 1. At its
south end, it butted and went over the foundations of
wall 124. Bonded on to its east side, foundations for a
buttress-like protrusion were found which had been
widened in the uppermost stage.

Above the north and south end of the wall founda-
tions, the lower courses of wall 82 survived, consisting of
regular blocks of limestone adhering to each other with
hard cement. The base of this stone wall was at
approximately the same level as the earlier mortar floor.

After the foundations for wall 82 had been laid, a
square structure (feature 141) had been erected, butting
on to their west edge. The construction of feature 141
had involved the removal of many of the earlier deposits
in the centre of the trench (Figure 5b). The existing sides
of this feature were vertical and survived to a height of
1.1 m. The sides were 1.4 m long internally. The north
side had been cut through the hard ditch fill described in
phase 1 and was not lined. An L-shaped wall formed its
west and south sides. It was of stone with some tile and

a ENR2

brick inclusions and hard cement, and was 0.3 m thick.
The interior was lined with stone and faced with plaster,
while the exterior face was very rough, with glass, stone
and tile fragments protruding from the cement. At the
foot of the south face was a small opening 0.4 m wide and
0.3 m high.

The ground surface within this structure was covered
by a 20 mm thick layer of sandy mortar which extended
under the opening, and butted against the hard
gravelly medieval ditch filling. A layer of mortar rubble,
80 mm deep, overlay this surface. Above the mortar
rubble were red silty ash deposits containing a sixteenth-
or seventeenth-century sherd of pottery, part of a
pointed leather shoe sole, mammal bones that had
traces of butchery and a fairly complete skeleton of a
crow-sized bird. These deposits were ¢. 0.2 m deep and
had filled the opening at the foot of the south wall of
feature 141.

Although it was clear that structure 141 postdated the
foundations for wall 82, the time lapse between the
building of the two structures could not be determined.

ENR2

A polygonal plinth of hard cement, brick and stone was
built in the north-west quarter of the room (Figure 3).
The angles between the excavated sides suggest that it
was hexagonal. The sides were 1.2 m long and about 0.2
m high. The surface of the plinth was of hard sandy
iron-stained soil. Part of a salt-glazed stoneware jug of
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Figure4. Sections. a. Section along the east edge of trench in ENR2. b. Section along north edge of trenchin ENR3.
Key: 1. Rubble. 2. Loose grey deposit. 3. Soil with tile and stone chips. 4. Clay. 5. Mortar floor. 6. Sand. 7. Mortar. 8.
Brown clay with limestone and charcoal flecks. 9. Pebbles and mortar. 10. Brown silty soil with charcoal flecks. 11.
Clay with chalk flecks. 12. Burnt surface. 13. Decayed wood. 14. Clay with ash. 15. Ash and burnt sand. 16. Ashy silt

with grit. 17. Sand and gravel. 18. Drain fill.




teenth-century date was found on the

th.

alf of feature 156 had been taken down,
xtending south from the east side of this
cen dismantled to the level of the lower
e plinth facing. Between this wall and the
low wall of stone and blue clay blocks had been
ocking the opening in feature 156 up to the level
bottom of the plinth facing.

he cobbling into which the plinth had been cut was
feposited to the south of it and levelled. Over the
resulting horizontal surface a mortar floor was laid. The
floor was up to 20 mm thick and survived in the south
half of the trench where it sloped from west down to
east. It lay at 20.60-20.75 m O.D.

East of the base of the north—south wall, the ground
surface had been raised with several deposits to the same
level as the top of the dismantled north-south wall
(Figure 4a). Over this surface a mortar floor was laid, at
the same level as that in the south-west part of the room.
It continued into the east section.

There were no traces of mortar floor between the
dismantled wall and the plinth, an area which had been
subsequently disturbed.

In the south-east part of the trench was a drain. It was
lined with dressed stone, blue clay blocks and bricks
adhering to each other with hard cement similar to that
used in the plinth. The sides of the drain rested on tiles.
The conduit was 0.15 m wide and sloped downward from
north to south. A 1.6 m stretch of drain was defined.

The north end of the drain was covered with two square
slabs of stone. The edges of the larger stone were about
0.4 mlong. There were four perforations near the centre
making it possible for water to run off into the drain. The
south part of the drain was covered by three almost flat
stones which served as a base for a cobbled surface.

ENR3
A drain had been built on the east side of the excavated
area (Figure 3). It was made of dressed limestone blocks.
The sides and base of the drain had been bonded with
mortar, and the stones overlying the drain, where still in
situ, had been sealed with blue clay. The conduit of the
drain was 0.18 m wide and about 0.1 m deep. It sloped
from south down to north. A 2 m stretch was defined.

On either side of the drain, over irregular dumps of
sand and gravel with chips of mortar and brick, clayey
sand had been deposited (Figure 4b). A sandy mortar
floor which was up to 0.1 m thick had been laid over it.
There was a slight slope from the west down towards the
drain. The floor lay at 20.62-20.70 m O.D.

Finds from the deposits and from the floor included
two sherds of sixteenth- or seventeenth-century pottery.

ENRI1
There was a floor of yellow and pink bricks which was
charred on the east side of the room.

Summary
Itis suggested that wall 82 in ENRS represents
a new west gable end for the building that
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extended eastward. Structure 141 was too
small to have formed a room and may have
served as a soakaway: its base was about 0.6 m
below the foot of wall 82, suggesting that the
opening in its south wall lay below floor level,
while the filling inside it consisted of domestic
detritus overlying the sand and rubble layers.
The rough appearance of the external face of
the wall would be consistent with this.

The features excavated in ENR2 and ENR3
belonged to one structure. The dimensions of
the two drains, the levels of the floors and the
soil build-up under them were all similar.

The few sherds of pottery associated with
this phase were of sixteenth or seventeenth
century date and the quality of the cement
used in the construction of the new features
suggests a date in the seventeenth century or
later. The composition of the cement used for
wall 82 in ENRS differed from that used for
the plinth and drain in ENR2, suggesting that
the alterations were not carried out in the
same building campaign. The plinth in ENR2
closely resembled the base of one of the
cast-iron stoves in Ely Cathedral. These
stoves, produced by Gurney and Co of London,
were installed in the Cathedral some time
between 1866 and 1873.% This would suggest
that the alterations in ENR2 and ENR3 were
carried out in the nineteenth century.

Phase 6

There was evidence for demolition in ENRS,
ENR2 and ENR3. A series of deposits were
dumped over the entire excavated area.
Demolition deposits were also noted in the
trial trenches in ENR1, ENR4 and ENRG6.

ENRS

Wall 82 was almost completely dismantled and the top of
feature 141 was removed. A piece of fallen masonry
resting against the west wall of this feature had possibly
formed part of its superstructure. The soil to the west
and south of feature 141 had been removed and been
replaced by a deposit of compacted brown sandy silt
containing grit and mortar lumps (Figure 5b). The entire
excavated area was then covered with demolition depos-
its which consisted mainly of brick and mortar rubble
(Figure 5a). Finds included a quantity of large animal
bone, strips of window lead, and window glass frag-
ments. The total depth of these layers was 0.2-0.4 m.
The sleeper walls for the floors of the present building
rested on the resulting surface.

2 DeanC. Merivale, St Etheldreda Festival, Summary
of Proceedings, 1873 (Ely, 1874).
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Sections in ENRS5. a. Along east edge of trench. b. North-south section across feature 141.

Key: 1. Rubble. 2. Loose grey deposit. 3. Sandy mortar. 4. Compacted brown silty sand containing mortar. 5. Ash. 6.

Burnt surface. 7. Grey and brown clayey silt with charcoal flecks. 8. Sandy silt with gravels. 9. Orange- brown silty

sand with mortar flecks. 10. Brown sandy silt. 11. Cobbled surface. 12. Compacted grey silty clay. 13. Mortar rubble.
14. As 7, with patches of sand.

ENR2

A pit had been dug to the east of the plinth and then
infilled. A piece of red and cream painted wall-plaster
was found in this filling. Over this, a brick-edged
structure of mortar and rubble was built and was
cemented on to the plinth. The mortar floor was covered
with a thin layer of brown deposit in which was found a
lace bobbin (Figure 6¢).

Feature 156 had been infilled with stratified deposits,
probably over a long period. One of the deposits
consisted almost entirely of window glass; fragments of
lead cames and a few sherds of fourteenth- to early

seventeenth-century wares were found amongst the
glass. Part of this deposit was excavated and yielded
approximately 3000 fragments of glass, including
coloured and decorated glass (Figure 7). Preliminary
examination suggested that the glass had belonged to
several windows of various dates between the first half of
the thirteenth century and the fifteenth century; the
windows had subsequently been taken apart and the
redundant glass dumped into feature 156 together with
the scraped-off lead cames (D. King, pers. comm.).

Demolition deposits were then dumped over the
whole site (Figure 4a). They consisted mainly of stone
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Figure 6. a. Fragment of thirteenth-century Thetford ware with rouletted decoration, phase 1 ditch fill in ENRS.
b. Green-glazed tile fragment with inlaid white slip on a reduced background, associated with the phase 4 building in
ENR2.
¢. Bone lace bobbin found on the mortar floor in ENR2, phase 6.

and tile rubble and their total depth was about 0.6 m.
Finds included animal bone, window glass, and a
fragment of fourteenth-century glazed roof tile. The site
was then levelled and the sleeper walls for the floor of
the present building were laid on the resulting surface.

ENR3

Several layers were deposited (Figure 4b). Over a clay
layer were layers of silt and sand containing ash. In the
west half of the excavated area, these layers had been cut
by a ditch that ran north-south, and had subsequently
been infilled. The site was then levelled for the floor of
the present building. The total depth of the deposits
associated with this phase was 0.5-0.6 m. Finds were
similar to those from the demolition layers of ENRS and
ENR2.

Summary

The buildings partially or totally demolished
in the final phase had been erected in the
fourteenth century or later (phase 4). The
presence of medieval window glass and lead in
the demolition levels suggests that some of the
medieval windows had survived until that
time, implying that the fabric into which the
windows had been set had also survived. The
glass deposit found in feature 156 is to be the
subject of further study.

Demolition probably immediately pre-
ceded the re-modelling of the North Range to
its present form, although the presence of a
ditch in ENR3 suggests that this area may
have been open ground for a short period
prior to rebuilding.

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

The complex of buildings studied comprises,
from west to east, the so-called Goldsmith’s
Tower, then a two-storey range in.two parts,
the first of two bays, the second of three,
which are continuous but not intercommu-
nicating (the former Choir School), and fin-
ally the Sacrist’s Gate (Plates 1 and 2).
Although they are of medieval origin, they
were extensively rebuilt in 1860-64. The
exterior of the buildings is all of stone, mostly
rubble but incorporating some ashlar. Much
of it appears reused medieval material. The
stone is Carstone except for some limestone,
perhaps Clipsham, on the south side of the
former Choir School range. The worked stone
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, ENR2.

Figure 7. Medieval window glass from the deposit in feature 156
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Plate 1.

in the quoins, buttresses and door and window
openings appears to belong to the nineteenth-
century rebuilding except in the Sacrist’s Gate
and the Goldsmith’s Tower. The roofs both of
the former Choir School range and of the
Goldsmith’s Tower also appear to be of the
mid nineteenth century. The roof of the
Sacrist’s Gate was not inspected.

The buildings are described as they were
before their refurbishment in 1988.

Goldsmith’s Tower

The Goldsmith’s Tower consists of a vaulted
ground floor compartment (room ENR1), a
chamber on the first floor and an attic with
louvred openings.

Exterior
On the north side the only original features
Ppear to be the transomed two-light window
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North Range, south elevation.
(Crown copyright)
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on the first floor and the three-stage
buttresses. There is no moulding to the
entrance arch on the ground floor. The angles
of the attic storey are built up in stone but the
centre panel on the north side is of brick.

On the south side there is a diagonal
buttress on the south-east angle, which is
incorporated into the west wall of the Old
Choir School. On the ground floor there is a
small single-light window with sunk span-
drels, of the mid nineteenth century. Below
and to the east of it is a blocked door opening.
The ground floor masonry appears much
disturbed. On the first floor there is a two-light
transomed window with a hoodmould and
head stops. It is nineteenth-century. In the
attic there is a louvred opening in the centre.

Interior (Plate 3) f

On the ground floor (room ENR1) there is a
large arch articulating each wall. Those on the
east and west appear always to have been
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Plate 2. North Range, Sacrist’s Gate, south elevation.
(Crown Copyright)

blind. The vault is quadripartite with sharply
chamfered ribs springing from polygonal
moulded corbels. The fill of the vault is a
mixture of stone and brick, in part destroyed.
The floor has been excavated to reveal a brick
floor about 0.2 m below the modern street
level.

In the north wall the inside face of the
entrance arch is intact; it is of ashlar but
unmoulded. The external face was destroyed
to accommodate a wooden gate frame.

In the east wall within the arch there is a
large blocked doorway at the south end. The
rear-arch has ashlar quoins and a roughly
arched head. A wooden lintel is built in below
the head of the arch. The dimensions of the

opening are 2.3 m to the head of the rear-arch
and 1.3 m across. The south jamb is 0.17 m
from the south side of the blind arch. This
opening has been unblocked revealing the
doorway set about 0.3 m from the inner
surface of the wall. The doorway has a two-
centred head and on the south side is moulded
with a single chamfer. Part of a hinge survives
on the south side.

In the south wall the crown of the arch has
been cut away, presumably, because of
blackening of the masonry, for a flue. A
single-light window rises into this area. Below
the window and to the east is the wooden lintel
of a former doorway. The lintel is about 2 m
above the floor level and extends about 0.9




from the corner. On the west side of the
doorway there are remains of a chamfered
jamb.

In the west wall there are signs of
disturbance, especially in the regularly
coursed masonry at the south end. However
no openings can be detected. There is a
possible horizontal fabric break about 1.65 m
above floor level.

On the first floor the chamber is articulated
with a single-chamfered arch on each wall,
similar to those on the ground floor, creating
ecesses 0.46 m deep. On the west wall a
ormer stack intrudes into the arch. The

esent doorway in the east wall is completely
atureless but there is no sign of any other
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Plate 3. North Range Goldsmith’s Tower, interior of vaulted ground floor, looking south.
(Crown Copyright)

entrance to the chamber. The nineteenth-
century south window is lower than the north
window but otherwise copies its detailing.

The attic of the Goldsmith’s Tower has
louvred openings in its east and south sides.
There is a bell-frame in the centre of the floor.
The angles are built up in large ashlar blocks
but the centre part of each wall and the wall
head are brick. There is evidence of the gable
of a former building on the west side.

Old Choir School, western part
(The Choir House)

This part consists of two bays, defined by
buttresses, and has two storeys.
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Exterior

On the north side the windows all appear to be
nineteenth-century but they may be in earlier
positions. On the ground floor there is a
nineteenth-century arched hatch, presumably
for fuel. The south wall is built of large, almost
square, grey ashlar blocks but is on a
nineteenth-century line. The two-centred
doorway is nineteenth-century, like the others
of similar design in the yard walls. The lion
gargoyle high on the south-west angle is
nineteenth-century.

Interior :
All the cross walls appear to be of nineteenth-
century brickwork. In the west room on the
ground floor (room ENR?2) there is a crack in
the south-west corner within the wall
connecting the south front with the diagonal
south- east buttress of the Goldsmith’s Tower.
In the east room on the ground floor (ENR3)
no architectural features survive. The wooden
baluster stair to the upper floor appears to be
of the first part of the nineteenth century
together with the dado panelling on the first
floor, so both may survive from before the
great rebuilding of the range in the middle of
the nineteenth century. The rather awkward
floor levels, especially the way in which a
small flight rises to a room over the stairs, also
might imply the retention of earlier features.
On the first floor in the south-west room
there is a crack in the wall similar to that in the
room below, despite a nineteenth-century
iron tie the length of the west wall. In the
north-west room there is a projection in the
north-west angle with a set-off, probably the
north-east buttress of the Goldsmith’s Tower.
The dado panelling is perhaps reused. In the
north-east room the dado is of slightly
different design, with two large panels. The
simple doors appear to be of the early rather
than of the mid nineteenth-century
rebuilding. The roof of this range is entirely
nineteenth-century. The rafters on the south
side are of some size but appear on the north
pitch to have been replaced in recent times by
more slender timbers.

Old Choir School, Eastern Part
(The Museum)

Exterior
The north and east walls are of medieval
origin but all the south wall, including the

projecting entrance turret (which formerly
contained a stair) belongs to the mid-
nineteenth-century rebuilding. On the north
side, by the Sacrist’s Gate, is another
nineteenth-century arched hatch.

Interior

Again the dividing walls are of nineteenth-
century brick. In the west room (ENR4) the
north wall is constructed of large blocks of
stone up to the sill of the window. The window
opening is nineteenth-century. In the east
room of the ground floor (ENRS5) there is a
large nineteenth-century beam across the
centre of the ceiling. In this room the cusped
heads of four-centred windows of ¢. 1500 were
found in the demolition layers below the floor.
In the cupboard on the north-east, behind the
Sacrist’s Gate, there is a hatch. In the east wall
there is a blocked doorway with an arched
head. The doorway has been blocked by a
brick pier for the stair. The north jamb of this
doorway is visible 0.9 m from the north wall.
In the lobby (room ENRG6) east of the east
room there is an arched recess on the south
projecting 0.4 m below the window. The east
wall is composed of two arched recesses with
an intermediate pier. These are formed in a
thicker wall and are probably of medieval
origin. A later doorway has been pierced
through the south recess.

On the first floor the large hall open to the
underside of the rafters, with beams
supported on corbels, seems entirely
nineteenth- century. However the masonry
exposed in the south wall below the sill level of
the windows might be reused medieval
material. The doors and stairs belong to the
nineteenth-century rebuilding.

Sacrist’s Gate

Exterior

On the north side there is an archway with a
depressed head, flanked by two-stage
buttresses. The archway has a hoodmould
with head stops. Above the archway is a
two-light window and, above that, a five-
arched corbel table. Over the corbel table is a
pitched, projecting string course forming an
applied ‘gable’. The building continues
unbroken into the range to the east. On the
south side there is a wider archway of two
chamfered orders, also flanked by three-stage
buttresses (Plate 2). The archway has a




hoodmould with worn head stops. On the first
floor there is a two-light window and, above,
an applied ‘gable’ over (similar to that on the
north front) with gargoyles projecting at its
base. The top is crenellated.

e e

Interior

The gate passage is stone vaulted with
chamfered transverse ribs, of the nineteenth
century. In the east and west walls are
doorways with two-centred heads, of
uncertain date. At the north-west angle there
is a lintel, presumably for a doorway, about
1.8 m above ground level and extending about
0.55 m.

On the first floor in the north wall is a
two-light window divided by a polygonal
shaft. The window is flanked by arched
recesses. The plaster has been removed from
the east wall. Large cracks are visible but no
obvious fabric breaks. In the south wall there
is a two-light window, belonging to the
original fabric though much restored in the
nineteenth century. It is however not a copy of
the north window but resembles the window
in the Goldsmith’s Tower. To the west of the
window, part of the splayed west jamb (about
1 m.) of a former window has been exposed
0.87 m from the south-west angle of the room.
The jamb still retains its plaster. The brick
vaults (in fire-proof construction) of this first-
floor chamber are nineteenth-century. In the
west wall there is a chamfered doorway, with
an  approximately  two-centred  head.
Although the west face appears completely
nineteenth-century the doorway may be an
original feature.

Conclusion

It appears that the fabric of the Goldsmith’s
Tower, the Sacrist’s Gate and the east part of
the former Choir School is essentially
medieval and that the line of the north wall is
also of medieval origin. Elsewhere the
buildings date from 1860-64 although
incorporating reused medieval masonry.

Nearly all the internal features also date from
1860-64.

3 P.G. Lindley, The Monastic Cathedral at Ely c.
1320 - ¢. 1350: Art and Patronage in Medieval East
Anglia (Ph.D 13733, Cambridge 1985)
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DISCUSSION

Investigation of a very limited area in ENRS
suggested a high density of occupation in the
period between the tenth and the thirteenth
century. Towards the end of this period, a
ditch had been cut and was infilled after a
short time. The stretch of ditch excavated was
parallel with the present north wall of the
North Range.

There was evidence for a substantial wall
that also ran parallel with the present north
wall. The foundations for this wall lay at about
two metres to the south of the ditch which had
probably been infilled by the time the wall was
built. Both features may represent a
boundary, the wall replacing the ditch.

After the wall had been demolished, two
separate buildings had been erected, some
time in the fourteenth century or later. These
buildings had undergone alterations in or
after the seventeenth century and were thenin
part destroyed and subsequently replaced by
the present North Range.

There was a gap in the archaeological
record between the time when the two
buildings were erected, in phase 4, and phase
5, when structural alterations were carried
out. Such absence of archaeological data may
be due to the fact that the buildings had
remained in continuous occupation, as was
the case of Denny Abbey. In phases 4 and 5, it
was not clear whether the developments
observed in  ENRS5  were  exactly
contemporary with those in ENR2 and
ENR3.

In the Middle Ages, the site formed part of
the Sacrist’s department. He was one of the
most powerful of the obedientiaries of the
Priory and had separate apartments within the
monastic precinct. Income from land,
tenements and other sources was set aside for
his office.> The earliest extant Sacrists’
account rolls date from the late thirteenth
century and specific reference to his buildings
is first found in the rolls of the first half of the
fourteenth century.* The Sacrist at this time
was Alan of Walsingham who held the office
from 1321 until 1341, when he became Prior of

4 F.R. Chapman, Sacrist Rolls (2 vols., Cambridge,
1907)
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Ely. His tenure coincided with a time of great
building activity both in the Cathedral and in
the monastic precinct.

The Sacrist’s account rolls for 1325/6 (Roll
5) record the purchase of shops and recent
building in stone. Building materials were
bought including stone for the wall in the
cemetery, and labourers were paid for work
on a stone chamber ‘in angulo’, presumably
the north-west corner of the Sacrist’s precinct.
Payments were made in 1352/3 for thatching
the old hall in the Sacristy (Roll 12), and in
1354/5 for tiling the new hall (Roll 13).
Throughout are miscellaneous expenses for
building materials and repairs to buildings.
There are also references to glazing, including
payments for the repair of old windows in
1336/7 (Roll 7).

The account rolls suggest considerable
building activity in the Sacrist’s department in
the first half of the fourteenth century.
Reference to the location of this activity may
be found in a section of the Chronicon
Abbatum et Episcoporum Eliensium which
records Alan of Walsingham’s achievements,’
and may well have been compiled in 1388.3

The chronicler records that Alan of
Walsingham bought four shops next to the
cemetery  and then  surrounded  his
department with stone walls: the north wall
ran from the parish cemetery to the
Almoner’s department, and there was
another wall between the end of the north wall
adjacent to the cemetery and the corner of the
Lady Chapel. In the north corner, next to the
cemetery, he built a stone chamber. On the
first floor was a room with an accounting
table. Below were two rooms separated by a
stone wall, one to serve as a goldsmith’s shop,
the other as a wine cellar. He built two other
stone houses roofed with tiles. The first was a
long building with several chambers, the
second was for the horse-mill.’

Both documentary sources record the
purchase of shops and the building of stone
walls and houses. The chronicler states that
the shops were adjacent to the cemetery, and
that one of the walls built to enclose the
Sacrist’s department ran from the cemetery to
the Almonry. Until the mid-nineteenth
century, the cemetery lay to the north of the

5 H. Wharton, Anglia Sacra 1 (London, 1691), pp
643-6.

Cathedral, and recent observation of builders’
trenches suggests that it had once extended
into the part of the courtyard of the North
Range that lies south of ENR1, ENR?2 and
ENR3. The Almonry fronted on to the
Market Place.

It is suggested that the shops for whose
purchase payment was made in 1325/6 fronted
on to the High Street and lay on the site of the
North Range, and that the new boundary wall
ran along the line of the present north wall of
the North Range.

Alan of Walsingham thus extended the
boundaries of his department, and therefore
of the monastic precinct, by purchasing the
shops which were of the Bishop’s fee. This
implies an earlier boundary to the south of the
new one, to mark the limit between
monastery and town. Excavation provided
evidence for a possible ditch and a wall
running parallel to the north wall of the
present North Range (Figures 2a and 2b). The
pottery evidence suggested that these features
were of thirteenth-century date. The
excavated wall foundations may therefore
represent the remains of a boundary wall
dismantled when the Sacrist’s precinct was
extended in the fourteenth century. The new
walls defined an area between the north-west
corner of the Lady Chapel, the Goldsmith’s
Tower, the Almonry and the Cathedral. The
line of the parish boundary between the
precinct and Trinity parish breaks north to
enclose the North Range and the Almonry
(Plate 6). This suggests that the parish
boundary was adjusted in the time of Alan of
Walsingham to include his department within
the jurisdiction of the monastery.

The documentary evidence refers to the
erection of a number of buildings. One of
these was the stone chamber ‘Jn angulo . . .
boreali juxta cimiterium’. The chamber was
probably the building now known as the
Goldsmith’s Tower although it is hard to
reconcile the present relatively modest
structure with the chronicler’s description of
the lower floor as containing both a
goldsmith’s shop and a wine cellar. The other
buildings cannot be precisely identified.

If a list of the buildings mentioned in
fourteenth-century sources is compared with
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Plate 4. The Goldsmith’s or Old Bell Tower from the south~eést, 1857. Pencil drawing by Henry Baines.

|
]
1

(Photograph: Crown Copyright)

that provided by the 1541 Award, following
the Dissolution of the monastery at Ely° it
may be seen that most of the buildings existing
by c. 1350 were the same as those still standing
in 1541. This suggests that no major building
work was undertaken after ¢. 1350 and so the
buildings whose remains were excavated in
ENRS5 and in ENR2 (phase 4), if of medieval
origin, had probably been erected in the
fourteenth century.

At the Dissolution, the Sacrist’s buildings
were allocated to the prebend of the fourth
stall.® In an agreement made in 1566 between
the Dean and Chapter and the parishioners of
Holy Trinity,” whereby the Dean and Chapter
granted the parishioners the use of the Lady
Chapel, the then prebend Mathew Hutton
released ‘one tower or squaire house’, i.e. the

6 D.J. Stewart, Distribution of the Buildings of the
Dissolved Monastery at Ely, Archaeological
Journal LIV (1897), pp. 174-185.

Goldsmith’s Tower, to serve as a belfry. In
this document, no reference is made to the
church way that provided access for the
parishioners from the street to their church. It
is shown on Bidwell’s map of Ely of 1851
(Plate 6). The trenches dug in the courtyard of
the North Range in connection with the recent
restoration provided some evidence to
suggest a medieval origin for the church way.
No burials were found in the part of the trench
to the south of ENR4, ENR5 and ENRG,
while a number of burials were located in the
trenches in the west part of the yard. The
church way may, therefore, possibly have run
along the east boundary of the churchyard
prior to Alan of Walsingham’s building
activity, and continued as a way of access.
The Parliamentary confiscation of Chapter

7 Indenture of agreement between the Dean and
Chapter, and the parishioners of Holy Trinity
parish, dated September 1566.



property does not seem to have affected the
buildings of the North Range.® In 1678 there is
a reference to the Prebend leasing three
houses attached to his stall, of which one
stood to the east, the other two to the west of
his chief residence.® In the following decades
frequent references in the Chapter Books to
the cost of repairs of buildings in the monastic
precinct'? suggest neglect and decay.

In the second half of the eighteenth century
major repairs carried out in the buildings of
the fourth prebend!! may be followed in the
annual accounts of the clerk of works.!2
Considerable expenses are recorded for the

8 T.D. Atkinson, An Architectural History of the
Benedictine Monastery of St Etheldreda at Ely
(Cambridge, 1933).

9 Ely Chapter Book from 1660 to 1729 (EDC2/1/2).

10 1Ibid, and Ely Chapter Book 1729-1769 (EDC
2/1/4).

11 Ely Chapter Book 17291769, from June 1755.
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Plate 5. The North Range from the south-east, 1857.The Sacrist’s Gate, then block
Pencil drawing by Henry Baines.
(Photograph: Crown Copyright)

ed, is shown in the foreground.

years between 1757 and 1760 which suggests
large- scale alterations to the buildings,
perhaps the insertion of the sash windows
which are shown in a drawing by Henry
Baines (Plate 5).

Further reference to the North Range may
be found in the records of nineteenth-century
restoration in the College by John Bacon.™
Bacon states that the following features
occupied the site, from west to east, the bell
house, a cottage, the church way and a lean-to
scullery built against the west gable end of the
Sacristy. The buildings mentioned by Bacon
are shown on Bidwell’s map of Ely and are

12 Clerk of Works. Accounts Audit for the years from
1756 to 1767 (EDC 4/1/11 to 4/1/21).

13 A Record of the Restorations, Repairs, etc, done in
and about Ely Cathedral since 1818. Prepared by
John Bacon Clerk of the works 1871 (Bacon’s
Books, Ely Cathedral MS 37).




the two drawings by Henry Baines
hem from the south-east (Plates 4
n a plan of the monastic remains in
).J. Stewart identified, from west to
he bell tower, an open space, and the
Hall.* Detailed measurements of this
may be found in a drawing among
wart’s papers'® which shows the west gable
wall of the hall in the same position as the
all excavated in ENRS5 (Figure 3: wall 82).
Stewart considered that the buildings between
this wall and the Goldsmith’s Tower were of
post-medieval origin but it is possible that
they had been altered in such a way as to
conceal medieval fabric. In an article in the
Cambridge Chronicle of 7 April 1860 it was
reported that the buildings on the College side
of the High Street were in poor condition and
that all the windows on that side had been
blocked up.

It is suggested that the east part of ENRS
constituted part of the medieval Sacrist’s Hall
that underwent considerable alterations
between 1757 and 1760. These alterations
possibly included the erection of wall 82
(Figure 3) ascribed to phase 5. In view of the
evidence for continuity of use of the Sacrist’s
Hall since the Middle Ages, it is suggested
that the building represented by a mortar floor
in phase 4 was of medieval origin.

The structure to the west of wall 82 (Figure
3: feature 141) lay on the site of the lean-to
scullery mentioned by Bacon. This supports
the suggestion that this structure may have
been a soakaway. The removal and
subsequent replacement of soil around it
(phase 6) may have taken place after the
cholera epidemic of 1832 when measures were
taken to improve the general sanitation of
Ely.

The building that had been erected in
ENR2 in phase 4 was therefore also of
medieval origin and probably one of the
buildings to which reference was made in
1678. It has been suggested above that phase 5
in ENR2 and ENR3 belongs to the
mid-nineteenth century, and documentary
evidence shows that there was at that time a
building on the site of ENR2 and ENR3
whose south wall was on the same line as the
wall excavated in ENR2 (Figure 3).

14 D.J. Stewart, On the Architectural History of Ely
Cathedral (London, 1868).
15 Boxoftracing, plans, antiquarian notes, sketches of
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The Cambridge Chronicle article of April
1860, referred to above, mentions plans for
the restoration of the North Range. The
Handbook to the Cathedral Church of Ely
dated 1864 describes a recently erected
building comprising Choristers’ rooms and a
Master’s residence on the site of the North
Range. Demolition, represented by phase 6,
must therefore have taken place after April
1860 and before 1864. The Dean at this time,
Harvey Goodwin, in the text of his book Ely
Gossip,'® stated unequivocally that no
professional architect was employed but that
the advice of Le Strange, the gentleman artist
then at work on the ceiling of the nave, was
taken as necessary. However, an editorial
footnote corrected Goodwin stating that the
plans were drawn by W.M. Fawcett, the
Cambridge architect. This is confirmed by
Bacon.

The church way was suppressed and the
formerly blocked up entry through the
Sacrist’s Gate (Plate 5) was reopened. Above
the gate a fireproof muniments room was
created. The cottage next to the Goldsmith’s
Tower was demolished, and the range west of
the Sacrist’s Gate was taken down, except for
a short stretch of its north and south walls
adjacent to the Sacrist’s Gate and the west
wall of the gate passage which remained to a
height of about 2 m. In the space between the
Goldsmith’s Tower and the Sacrist’s Gate a
new range was built in two parts, that to the
west, domestic in character and apparently
reusing some early nineteenth-century
woodwork, perhaps from the former
buildings on the site, that to the east
comprising a first-floor hall and classroom
below for the boys of the choir school. The
line and perhaps some of the masonry of the
former north wall were retained, but the south
wall was erected further south to line up with
the south wall of the Sacrist’s Gate rather than
that of the Goldsmith’s Tower.

CONCLUSION

The excavations have yielded evidence for an
earlier north boundary between the town and
the monastic precinct. The present boundary
was probably established in the first half of the

mouldings, etc. prepared by D.J. Stewart for his
Architectural History (Ely Chapter MS 45).
16 H. Goodwin, Ely Gossip (Ely, 1892).
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Goldsmith’s Tower Church Way

Sacrist’s Gate
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Plate 6. Part of the map of Ely by C.M. Bidwell showing the North Range and church way, 1851. The shaded line
marks the parish boundary.

fourteenth century, entailing a northward
adjustment of the parish boundary. The two
buildings for which evidence was found in
ENRS5 and ENR2 were erected at that time.
Until the Dissolution they belonged to the
Sacrist, and afterwards to the Prebend of the
fourth stall. Despite some alterations such as
the adaptation of the Goldsmith’s Tower to
form the bell tower of Trinity parish, these
buildings remained in existence until the
Victorian remodelling of the early 1860s
which produced the North Range as it stands
today.
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